

Journal of the Senate

TUESDAY, MAY 27, 2025

The Senate was called to order by the President.

Devotional Exercises

A moment of silence was observed in lieu of devotions.

Pledge of Allegiance

The President then led the members of the Senate in the pledge of allegiance.

Bill Referred to Committee on Appropriations

H. 321.

House bill of the following title, appearing on the Calendar for notice, and carrying an appropriation or requiring the expenditure of funds, under the rule, was referred to the Committee on Appropriations:

An act relating to miscellaneous cannabis amendments.

Bill Passed in Concurrence with Proposal of Amendment

H. 480.

House bill of the following title was read the third time and passed in concurrence with proposal of amendment:

An act relating to miscellaneous amendments to education law.

Proposals of Amendment; Third Reading Ordered

H. 397.

Senator Collamore, for the Committee on Government Operations, to which was referred House bill entitled:

An act relating to miscellaneous amendments to the statutes governing emergency management and flood response.

Reported recommending that the Senate propose to the House to amend the bill by striking out all after the enacting clause and inserting in lieu thereof the following:

* * * Division of Emergency Management; Plans and Reports * * *

Sec. 1. 20 V.S.A. § 3a is amended to read:

1465

Printed on 100% Recycled Paper

§ 3a. EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT DIVISION; DUTIES; BUDGET

(a) In addition to other duties required by law, the Division of Emergency Management shall:

* * *

(3) Annually on or before the last legislative day in January, provide an update and presentation to the House Committee on Government Operations and Military Affairs and the Senate Committee on Government Operations concerning all action items in the all-hazards mitigation plan required by subdivision (1) of this subsection.

* * *

Sec. 2. 20 V.S.A. § 41 is amended to read:

§ 41. STATE EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT PLAN

~~The Department of Public Safety's Vermont~~ Division of Emergency Management Division, in consultation with stakeholders, shall create, and republish as needed, but not less than every five years, a comprehensive State Emergency Management Plan. The Plan shall:

(1) detail response systems during all-hazards events, including communications, coordination among State, local, private, and volunteer entities, and the deployment of State and federal resources. ~~The Plan shall also;~~

(2) detail the State's emergency preparedness measures and goals, including those for the prevention of, protection against, mitigation of, and recovery from all-hazards events. ~~The Plan shall; and~~

(3) include templates and guidance for regional emergency management and for local emergency plans that support municipalities in their respective emergency management planning.

* * * Voluntary Buyouts * * *

Sec. 3. 20 V.S.A. § 48 is amended to read:

§ 48. COMMUNITY RESILIENCE AND DISASTER MITIGATION
GRANT PROGRAM

* * *

(c) Administration; implementation.

(1) Grant awards. The Department of Public Safety, in coordination with the Department of Environmental Conservation, shall administer the Program, which shall award grants for the following:

* * *

(C) projects that implement disaster mitigation measures, adaptation, or repair, including watershed restoration, voluntary buyouts for flood-impacted or -prone properties, and similar activities that directly reduce risks to communities, lives, public collections of historic value, and property; and

* * *

* * * Division of Emergency Management; Assistance to Municipalities * * *

Sec. 4. 20 V.S.A. § 51 is added to read:

§ 51. DIVISION OF EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT; ALL-HAZARD
AND WEATHER ALERT SYSTEMS FOR MUNICIPAL
CORPORATIONS

Upon request of a municipal corporation, the Division of Emergency Management shall assist the municipal corporation with access to the following:

(1) a statewide river observation and modeling system that details current river level observations and models river flood outlooks; and

(2) a statewide enhanced weather forecasting and alert system that:

(A) predicts local and regional conditions using advanced modeling;
and

(B) issues real-time warnings for potentially dangerous weather through multiple communication channels.

* * * Needs Assessment Report * * *

Sec. 5. DIVISION OF EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT; STATE
STAKEHOLDERS; NEEDS ASSESSMENT; REPORT

The Division of Emergency Management shall conduct a needs assessment to identify any additional staffing, resources, technical needs, or authority needed to carry out the provisions of this act. On or before November 15, 2025, the Division shall submit a written report to the House Committees on Appropriations and on Government Operations and Military Affairs and the Senate Committees on Appropriations and on Government Operations containing the needs assessments conducted by the State agencies and departments identified in this section.

* * * Municipal Finances and Indebtedness * * *

Sec. 6. 24 V.S.A. § 1585 is added to read:

§ 1585. UNASSIGNED FUND BALANCE

Monies from a budget approved by the voters at an annual or special meeting that are not expended by the end of a municipality's fiscal year shall be under the control and direction of the legislative body of the municipality and may be carried forward from year to year as an unassigned fund balance. Unassigned fund balances may be invested and reinvested as are other monies received by a town treasurer and may be expended for any public purpose as established by the legislative body of the municipality.

Sec. 7. 24 V.S.A. § 1790 is added to read:

§ 1790. EMERGENCY BORROWING; ALL-HAZARD EVENT OR STATE OF EMERGENCY

The legislative body of a municipality may borrow money, in the name of the municipal corporation, by issuance of its notes or orders for the purpose of paying expenses of the municipal corporation or for public improvements associated with an all-hazards event or a declared state of emergency pursuant to 20 V.S.A. chapter 1. The notes or orders shall be for a period of not more than five years or a term not to exceed the reasonably anticipated useful life of the improvements or assets financed by the notes or orders.

Sec. 8. 24 V.S.A. § 1759 is amended to read:

§ 1759. DENOMINATIONS; PAYMENTS; INTEREST

(a)(1) Any bond issued under this subchapter shall draw interest at a rate not to exceed the rate approved by the voters of the municipal corporation in accordance with section 1758 of this title, or if no rate is specified in the vote under that section, at a rate approved by the legislative ~~branch~~ body of the municipal corporation, ~~such the~~ interest to be payable ~~semiannually as determined by the legislative body of the municipal corporation.~~ ~~Such~~ The bonds or bond shall be payable serially, the first payment to be deferred not later than from one to five years after the issuance of the bonds and subsequent principal payments or debt service payments, which include both principal and interest payments, to be continued annually in ~~equal~~ substantially level or diminishing declining amounts, as determined by the legislative body of the municipality, so that the entire debt will be paid in not more than 20 years from the date of issue.

(2) In the case of bonds issued for the purchase or development of a municipal forest, the first payment may be deferred not more than 30 years from the date of issuance ~~thereof of the bond.~~ ~~Thereafter such~~ After any

deferral period, the bonds or bond shall be payable annually in equal substantially level or diminishing amounts declining annual debt service as the legislative body of the municipal corporation may determine, so that the entire debt will be paid in not more than 60 years from the date of issue.

* * *

(b) General obligation bonds authorized under this subchapter for the purpose of financing the improvement, construction, acquisition, repair, renovation, and replacement of a municipal plant as defined in 30 V.S.A. § 2901 shall be paid serially, the first payment to be deferred not later than from one to five years after the issuance of the bonds, and subsequent principal payments or debt service payments, which include both principal and interest payments, to be continued annually in substantially level or declining amounts, as determined by the legislative body of the municipal corporation, so that the entire debt will be paid ~~over a term equal to the useful life of the financed improvements, but not more than 40 years from the date of issue, and may be so arranged that beginning with the first year in which principal is payable, the amount of principal and interest in any year shall be as nearly equal as is practicable according to the denomination in which such bonds are issued,~~ notwithstanding other permissible payment schedules authorized by this section.

* * * Dam Drawdown During Emergency Flood Events * * *

Sec. 9. 20 V.S.A. § 9 is amended to read:

§ 9. EMERGENCY POWERS OF GOVERNOR

(a) Subject to the provisions of this chapter, in the event of an all-hazards event in or directed upon the United States or Canada that causes or may cause substantial damage or injury to persons or property within the State in any manner, the Governor may declare a state of emergency within the entire State or any portion or portions of the State. Thereafter, the Governor shall have and may exercise for as long as the Governor determines the emergency to exist the following additional powers within ~~such~~ the area or areas:

* * *

(b)(1) In consultation with the Secretary of Natural Resources or designee, the Governor may authorize the Agency of Natural Resources to waive applicable permits and restrictions under 10 V.S.A. chapter 47 or the Vermont Water Quality Standards to allow dams within the State to draw down water levels in anticipation of a flood event that is likely to cause substantial damage or injury to persons or property. Waivers may only be issued if the Director of the Division of Emergency Management, in consultation with the Secretary of Natural Resources or designee, has significant reason to believe that

authorizing an advance drawdown will decrease the risk of substantial damage to persons or property within the State. The Secretary or designee shall, to the extent feasible, consult with applicable dam owners for federally licensed sites. Dam operators operating under a waiver shall be required to make every effort to minimize the environmental impact of a water level drawdown under the authorized waiver.

(2) Dam owners authorized to use a waiver under this subsection shall be required to develop a drawdown plan that is approved by the Secretary prior to implementation of a drawdown. This subdivision shall not apply to dam owners that have other plans approved by the Secretary in effect that address emergency drawdowns. The drawdown plan shall at minimum include the following:

(A) hydrologic and hydraulic modeling of the dam, reservoir, and downstream channel performed by an engineer experienced in dam safety engineering that proves the public safety benefit of pre-event drawdown;

(B) dam owner communications with downstream communities and applicable regulators prior to and during drawdown operations;

(C) maximum safe reservoir drawdown rates and outflows, as well as ramping rates for drawdown operations;

(D) target drawdown elevation in the reservoir;

(E) refill plan if unable to achieve during storm event;

(F) monitoring and reporting requirements of drawdown operations;

and

(G) documentation of plan updates and revisions over time.

Sec. 10. [Deleted.]

*** Local Option Tax; Amount Paid to Municipality ***

Sec. 11. 24 V.S.A. § 138 is amended to read:

§ 138. LOCAL OPTION TAXES

(c)(1) Any tax imposed under the authority of this section shall be collected and administered by the Department of Taxes, in accordance with State law governing such State tax or taxes and subdivision (2) of this subsection; provided, however, that a sales tax imposed under this section shall be collected on each sale that is subject to the Vermont sales tax using a destination basis for taxation. Except with respect to taxes collected on the sale of aviation jet fuel, a per-return fee of \$5.96 shall be assessed, ~~70~~ 75

percent of which shall be borne by the municipality, and ~~30~~ 25 percent of which shall be borne by the State to be paid from the PILOT Special Fund. Notwithstanding 32 V.S.A. § 603 or any other provision of law or municipal charter to the contrary, revenue from the fee shall be used to compensate the Department for the costs of administering and collecting the local option tax and of administering the State appraisal and litigation program established in 32 V.S.A. § 5413. The fee shall be subject to the provisions of 32 V.S.A. § 605.

* * *

(d)(1) Except as provided in subsection (c) of this section and subdivision (2) of this subsection with respect to taxes collected on the sale of aviation jet fuel, of the taxes collected under this section, ~~70~~ 75 percent of the taxes shall be paid on a quarterly basis to the municipality in which they were collected, after reduction for the costs of administration and collection under subsection (c) of this section. Revenues received by a municipality may be expended for municipal services only, and not for education expenditures. Any remaining revenue shall be deposited into the PILOT Special Fund established by 32 V.S.A. § 3709.

* * *

* * * Municipal Charters; Local Option Tax Revenue Share * * *

Sec. 12. 24 App. V.S.A. chapter 3, § 102d is amended to read:

§ 102d. LOCAL OPTION SALES TAX AUTHORITY

The Burlington City Council is authorized to impose a one percent sales tax upon sales within the City that are subject to the State of Vermont sales tax with the same exemptions as the State sales tax. The City sales tax shall be effective beginning on the next tax quarter following 30 days' notice in 2006 to the Department of Taxes, or shall be effective on the next tax quarter following 90 days' notice to the Department of Taxes if notice is given in 2007 or after. Any tax imposed under the authority of this section shall be collected and administered by the Vermont Department of Taxes in accordance with State law governing the State sales tax. ~~Seventy percent of the~~ The taxes collected shall be paid to the City, ~~and the remaining amount of the taxes collected shall be remitted to the State Treasurer for deposit in the PILOT Special Fund first established in 1997 Acts and Resolves No. 60, Sec. 89. The cost of administration and collection of this tax shall be paid 70 percent by the City and 30 percent by the State from the PILOT Special Fund pursuant to 24 V.S.A. § 138.~~ The tax to be paid to the City, ~~less its obligation for 70 percent of the costs of administration and collection, pursuant to 24 V.S.A. § 138~~ shall

be paid to the City on a quarterly basis and may be expended by the City for municipal services only and not for education expenditures.

Sec. 13. 24 App. V.S.A. chapter 5, § 1214 is amended to read:

§ 1214. LOCAL OPTION TAXES

Local option taxes are authorized under this section for the purpose of affording the City an alternative method of raising municipal revenues. Accordingly:

* * *

(3) ~~Of the taxes reported under this section, 70 percent shall be paid to the City for calendar years thereafter. Such revenues~~ The City's local option tax revenue may be expended by the City for municipal services only and not for educational expenditures. The remaining amount of the taxes reported shall be remitted monthly to the State Treasurer for deposit in the PILOT Special Fund set forth in 32 V.S.A. § 3709. Taxes due to the City under this section shall be paid by the State on a quarterly basis.

Sec. 14. 24 App. V.S.A. chapter 127, § 1308a is amended to read:

§ 1308a. SALES, ROOMS, MEALS, AND ALCOHOLIC BEVERAGES
TAX

* * *

(d) ~~Of the taxes collected under this section, 70 percent~~ The share of taxes due to the Town pursuant to 24 V.S.A. § 138 shall be paid to the Town on a quarterly basis ~~to the Town~~ after reduction for the costs of administration and collection under subsection (c) of this section. Revenues received by the Town may be expended for municipal services only and not for education expenditures. Any remaining revenues shall be deposited in the PILOT Special Fund established by 32 V.S.A. § 3709.

Sec. 15. 24 App. V.S.A. chapter 171, § 18 is amended to read:

§ 18. LOCAL OPTIONS TAX

The Selectboard is authorized to impose a one percent sales tax, a one percent meals and alcoholic beverages tax, and a one percent rooms tax upon sales within the Town that are subject to the State of Vermont tax on sales, meals, alcoholic beverages, and rooms. The Town tax shall be implemented in the event the State local options tax as provided for in 24 V.S.A. § 138 is repealed or the 70-percent allocation to the town is reduced. A tax imposed under the authority of this section shall be collected and administered by the Vermont Department of Taxes in accordance with State law governing the State tax on sales, meals, alcoholic beverages, and rooms. ~~The amount of 70~~

~~percent of the taxes collected shall be paid to the Town, and the remaining amount of the taxes collected shall be remitted to the State Treasurer for deposit in the Pilot Special Fund first established in 1997 Acts and Resolves No. 60, § 89 pursuant to 24 V.S.A. § 138. The cost of administration and collection of this tax shall be paid 70 percent by the Town and 30 percent by the State from the Pilot Special Fund pursuant to 24 V.S.A. § 138. The tax to be paid to the Town, less its obligation for the 70 percent of the costs of administration and collection, pursuant to 24 V.S.A. § 138 shall be paid to the Town on a quarterly basis and may be expended by the Town for municipal services only and not for education expenditures. The Town may repeal the local option taxes by Australian ballot vote.~~

* * * Division of Emergency Management; Technical Corrections * * *

Sec. 16. 20 V.S.A. chapter 1 is amended to read:

CHAPTER 1. EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT

* * *

§ 2. DEFINITIONS

As used in this chapter:

* * *

(3) “Director” means the Director of ~~Vermont~~ the Division of Emergency Management of the Department of Public Safety.

* * *

§ 3. VERMONT EMERGENCY MANAGEMENT DIVISION

(a) There is hereby created within the Department of Public Safety a ~~division to the Division of Emergency Management, which may also be known as the Vermont Emergency Management Division.~~

* * *

§ 4. LANGUAGE ASSISTANCE SERVICES FOR STATE EMERGENCY COMMUNICATIONS

(a) If an all-hazards event occurs, the ~~Vermont Emergency Management~~ Division shall ensure that language assistance services are available for all State communications regarding the all-hazards event, including relevant press conferences and emergency alerts, as soon as practicable. Language assistance services shall be provided for:

* * *

(c) Annually, the ~~Vermont Emergency Management~~ Division shall hold a public meeting with members of the Vermont Deaf, Hard of Hearing, and DeafBlind Advisory Council; the Office of Racial Equity; the Vermont Association of Broadcasters; and other relevant stakeholders to review the adequacy and efficacy of the provision and distribution of language assistance services of emergency communications over mass communication platforms to individuals who are Deaf, Hard of Hearing, and DeafBlind as well as individuals with limited English language proficiency.

* * *

Sec. 17. 20 V.S.A. § 112 is amended to read:

§ 112. ADDITIONAL PROVISIONS — ARTICLE X

* * *

(b) The ~~director~~ Director of the Vermont ~~emergency management service~~ Emergency Management shall be the authorized representative in regard to a request from a party state or by Vermont for aid that does not involve personnel or elements of the Vermont National Guard.

* * *

(d) The ~~director~~ Director of Vermont ~~emergency management~~ Emergency Management shall be responsible for handling any and all documents necessary to obtain reimbursement hereunder for services rendered to a requesting state, or within Vermont by another assisting state.

* * *

Sec. 18. 10 V.S.A. § 599a is amended to read:

§ 599a. REPORTS; RULEMAKING

* * *

(c) In adopting the Strategy, the Agency shall:

* * *

(2) in consultation with other State agencies and departments, including the Department of Public Safety's Division of ~~Vermont~~ Emergency Management, assess the adaptation needs and vulnerabilities of various areas vital to the State's economy, normal functioning, and the health and well-being of Vermonters;

* * *

Sec. 19. 32 V.S.A. § 3102 is amended to read:

§ 3102. CONFIDENTIALITY OF TAX RECORDS

* * *

(e) The Commissioner may, in the Commissioner's discretion and subject to such conditions and requirements as the Commissioner may provide, including any confidentiality requirements of the Internal Revenue Service, disclose a return or return information:

* * *

(24) To the Division of ~~Vermont~~ Emergency Management at the Department of Public Safety for the purposes of emergency management and communication, and to the Department of Housing and Community Development and any organization then under contract with the Department of Housing and Community Development to carry out a statewide housing needs assessment for the purpose of the statewide housing needs assessment, provided that the disclosure relates to the information collected on the landlord certificate pursuant to subsection 6069(c) of this title.

* * *

* * * Rulemaking; Federal Regulations Incorporated by Reference * * *

Sec. 20. 3 V.S.A. § 850 is added to read:

§ 850. RULES; INCORPORATION OF FEDERAL REGULATIONS

Any federal regulation incorporated by reference into a Vermont Rule as of January 1, 2025 shall continue in effect as a State rule until January 31, 2029 or when the State rule is next amended, whichever is sooner, regardless of whether the federal rule was later repealed or amended. The secretary of an agency or commissioner of a department, as applicable, shall provide notice of these incorporated regulations by posting them on the agency or department website. Nothing in this section shall prevent the secretary or commissioner from adopting or amending a rule pursuant to this chapter, including emergency rulemaking.

* * * Property Tax Overpayment Refunds; City of Barre and Town of Milton * * *

Sec. 21. EDUCATION FUND REFUND; CITY OF BARRE TIF DISTRICT;
TAX INCREMENT; FY 2016–FY 2020

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the sum of \$437,028.00 shall be transferred from the Education Fund to the City of Barre not later than fiscal year 2026 to compensate the City for overpayments of education property taxes in fiscal years 2016 through 2020 due to insufficient retention of tax increment from the City's Tax Increment Financing District fund.

Sec. 22. EDUCATION FUND REFUND; MILTON TOWN CORE TIF
DISTRICT; TAX INCREMENT; FY 2017–FY 2023

Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the sum of \$184,451.00 shall be transferred from the Education Fund to the Town of Milton not later than fiscal year 2026 to compensate the Town for overpayments of education property taxes in fiscal years 2017 through 2023 due to insufficient retention of tax increment from the Town Core's Tax Increment Financing District fund.

Sec. 23. REPEAL

3 V.S.A. § 850 (rules; incorporation of federal regulations) is repealed on January 31, 2029.

* * * Effective Dates * * *

Sec. 24. EFFECTIVE DATES

(a) This section and Sec. 20 (rules; incorporation of federal regulations) shall take effect on passage.

(b) Sec. 11 (local option taxes) shall take effect on October 1, 2025.

(c) All other sections shall take effect on July 1, 2025.

And that the bill ought to pass in concurrence with such proposal of amendment.

Senator Cummings, for the Committee on Finance, to which the bill was referred, reported recommending that the Senate propose to the House that the bill be amended as recommended by the Committee on Government Operations with the following amendment thereto:

By adding a new section to be Sec. 22a to read as follows:

Sec. 22a. 2023 Acts and Resolves No. 72, Sec. 37 is amended to read:

Sec. 37. TAX INCREMENT FINANCING DISTRICT; CITY OF BARRE;
EXTENSION; INCREMENT

(a) Notwithstanding 2021 Acts and Resolves No. 73, Sec. 26a, amending 2020 Acts and Resolves No. 175, Sec. 29, or any other provision of law, the authority of the City of Barre to incur indebtedness is hereby extended to March 31, ~~2026~~ 2028.

(b) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, the authority of the City of Barre to retain municipal and education tax increment is hereby extended until June 30, 2039.

And that the bill ought to pass in concurrence with such proposal of amendment.

Senator Perchlik, for the Committee on Appropriations, to which the bill was referred, reported recommending that the Senate propose to the House that the bill be amended as recommended by the Committees on Government Operations and on Finance with the following proposal of amendment thereto:

By striking out Secs. 21 and 22 in their entireties and inserting in lieu thereof a new Sec. 21 to read as follows:

Sec. 21. GENERAL FUND TRANSFER TO THE EDUCATION FUND;
APPROPRIATION FOR COMPENSATION FOR
OVERPAYMENT

(a) In fiscal year 2026, in addition to any other fund transfers made, \$621,479.00 shall be transferred from the General Fund to the Education Fund to compensate the City of Barre and the Town of Milton for overpayment of education property tax increment from Tax Increment Financing District funds, pursuant to the findings of State Auditor Reports Nos. 21-03 and 24-06.

(b) Notwithstanding 16 V.S.A. § 4025, in fiscal year 2026, \$621,479.00 Education Fund shall be appropriated to the Department of Taxes for the following:

(1) \$437,028.00 to make a payment to the City of Barre to compensate the City for overpayments of education property taxes in fiscal years 2016 through 2020 due to insufficient retention of tax increment by the City's Tax Increment Financing District fund; and

(2) \$184,451.00 to make a payment to the Town of Milton to compensate the Town for overpayments of education property taxes in fiscal years 2017 through 2023 due to insufficient retention of tax increment by the Town's Tax Increment Financing District fund.

and by renumbering the remaining sections to be numerically correct.

And that when so amended the bill ought to pass in concurrence with such proposal of amendment.

Thereupon, the bill was read the second time by title only pursuant to Rule 43, and the recommendation of the Committee on Government Operations was amended as recommended by the Committees on Finance.

Thereupon, the recommendation of the Committee on Government Operations, as amended, was further amended as recommended by the Committee on Appropriations.

Thereupon, the pending question, Shall the Senate propose to the House that the bill be amended as recommended by the Committee on Government Operations, as amended?, was agreed to and third reading of the bill was ordered.

Rules Suspended; Bill Messaged

On motion of Senator Baruth, the rules were suspended, and the following bill was ordered messaged to the House forthwith:

H. 480.

Adjournment

On motion of Senator Baruth the Senate adjourned until two o'clock in the afternoon.

Message from the House No. 70

A message was received from the House of Representatives by Ms. Courtney Reckord, its Second Assistant Clerk, as follows:

Mr. President:

I am directed to inform the Senate that:

The House has considered bills originating in the Senate of the following titles:

S. 69. An act relating to an age-appropriate design code.

S. 123. An act relating to miscellaneous changes to laws related to motor vehicles.

S. 127. An act relating to housing and housing development.

And has passed the same in concurrence with proposals of amendment in the adoption of which the concurrence of the Senate is requested.

The House has considered Senate proposal of amendment to House bill entitled:

H. 91. An act relating to the Vermont Homeless Emergency Assistance and Responsive Transition to Housing Program.

And has refused to concur therein and asks for a Committee of Conference upon the disagreeing votes of the two Houses;

The Speaker appointed as members of such Committee on the part of the House:

Rep. Wood of Waterbury
Rep. Maguire of Rutland City
Rep. McGill of Bridport.

Called to Order

The Senate was called to order by the President.

**Senate Proposal of Amendment Amended; Bill Passed in Concurrence
with Proposal of Amendment****H. 50.**

House bill entitled:

An act relating to identifying underutilized State buildings and land.

Was taken up.

Thereupon, pending third reading of the bill, Senators Douglass, Harrison, Ingalls, Major, Plunkett and Watson moved to amend the Senate proposal of amendment by striking out subsection (g) in its entirety and inserting in lieu thereof a new subsection (g) to read as follows:

(g) The head of each agency shall prepare and forward to the Commissioner of Buildings and General Services ~~when requested by the Commissioner~~ annually in a format prescribed by the Commissioner an inventory of: square footage available for use; square footage in actual use; square footage not in use; square footage used for storage; square footage that is unfinished; cost per square foot for rent; cost per square foot for operation and maintenance; and the source of funds for rent, operation, and maintenance, including the act and section numbers of a legislative directive if applicable. The head of each agency shall additionally indicate in its inventory in a format prescribed by the Commissioner whether any building is vacant and whether any land is unnecessary for the statutory purpose of the agency.

Which was agreed to.

Thereupon, the bill was read the third time and passed in concurrence with proposal of amendment.

Committee of Conference Appointed**H. 91.**

An act relating to the Vermont Homeless Emergency Assistance and Responsive Transition to Housing Program.

Was taken up. Pursuant to the request of the House, the President announced the appointment of

Senator Lyons
Senator Gulick
Senator Vyhovsky

as members of the Committee of Conference on the part of the Senate to

consider the disagreeing votes of the two Houses.

Recess

On motion of Senator Baruth the Senate recessed until three o'clock and fifteen minutes in the afternoon.

Called to Order

The Senate was called to order by the President.

House Proposal of Amendment Concurred In

S. 59.

House proposal of amendment to Senate bill entitled:

An act relating to amendments to Vermont's Open Meeting Law.

Was taken up.

The House proposes to the Senate to amend the bill by striking out all after the enacting clause and inserting in lieu thereof the following:

Sec. 1. 1 V.S.A. § 310 is amended to read:

§ 310. DEFINITIONS

As used in this subchapter:

* * *

(9) "Undue hardship" means an action ~~required to achieve compliance would require~~ requiring significant difficulty or expense ~~to the unit of government to which a public body belongs,~~ considered in light of factors including the overall size of the entity, ~~sufficient~~ the availability of necessary personnel and staffing availability staff, the entity's ~~budget~~ available resources, and the costs associated with compliance.

Sec. 2. 1 V.S.A. § 312 is amended to read:

§ 312. RIGHT TO ATTEND MEETINGS OF PUBLIC AGENCIES BODIES

(a)(1) All meetings of a public body are declared to be open to the public at all times, except as provided in section 313 of this title. No resolution, rule, regulation, appointment, or formal action shall be considered binding except as taken or made at such open meeting, except as provided under subdivision 313(a)(2) of this title. A meeting of a public body is subject to the public accommodation requirements of 9 V.S.A. chapter 139. A public body shall electronically record all public hearings held to provide a forum for public comment on a proposed rule, pursuant to 3 V.S.A. § 840. The public shall

have access to copies of such electronic recordings as described in section 316 of this title.

* * *

(3)(A) ~~State nonadvisory public bodies; hybrid meeting requirement; exception for advisory bodies.~~ Any public body of the State, except advisory bodies, shall:

(A)(i) hold all regular and special meetings in a hybrid fashion, which shall include both a designated physical meeting location and a designated electronic meeting platform;

(B)(ii) electronically record all meetings; and

(C)(iii) for a minimum of 30 days following the approval and posting of the official minutes for a meeting, retain the audiovisual recording and post the recording in a designated electronic location.

(B) Exception; site inspections and field visits. This subdivision (3) shall not apply to gatherings of a State public body for purposes of a site inspection or field visit.

(C) Application of subdivision; State public bodies only. This subdivision (3) applies exclusively to State public bodies.

* * *

(5) ~~State nonadvisory public bodies; State and local advisory bodies; designating electronic platforms. State nonadvisory A public bodies body meeting in a hybrid fashion pursuant to subdivision (3) of this subsection and State and local advisory bodies meeting without a physical meeting location or advisory body meeting pursuant to subdivision (4) of this subsection shall designate and use an electronic platform that allows the direct access, attendance, and participation of the public, including access by telephone. The public body shall post information that enables the public to directly access the designated electronic platform and include this information in the published agenda or public notice for the meeting.~~

(6) Local ~~nonadvisory~~ public bodies; meeting recordings.

(A) A public body of a municipality or political subdivision, except advisory bodies, shall record or cause to record, in audio or video form, any meeting of the public body and post a copy of the recording in a designated electronic location for a minimum of 30 days following the approval and posting of the official minutes for a meeting. This subdivision (A) shall not apply to gatherings of a public body for purposes of a site inspection or field visit.

* * *

(c)(1) The time and place of all regular meetings subject to this section shall be clearly designated by statute, charter, regulation, ordinance, bylaw, resolution, or other determining authority of the public body, and this information shall be available to any person upon request. The time and place of all public hearings and meetings scheduled by all Executive Branch State agencies, departments, boards, or commissions shall be available to the public as required under 3 V.S.A. § 2222(c).

(2) The time, place, and purpose of a special meeting subject to this section shall be publicly announced at least 24 hours before the meeting. Municipal public bodies shall post notices of special meetings in or near the municipal clerk's office and in at least two other designated public places in the municipality or a neighboring municipality, at least 24 hours before the meeting. In addition, notice shall be given, either orally or in writing, to each member of the public body at least 24 hours before the meeting, except that a member may waive notice of a special meeting.

* * *

(d)(1) At least 48 hours prior to a regular meeting, and at least 24 hours prior to a special meeting, a meeting agenda shall be:

* * *

(B) in the case of a municipal public body, posted in or near the municipal office and in at least two other designated public places in the municipality or a neighboring municipality.

* * *

(3) A meeting agenda shall contain sufficient details concerning the specific matters to be discussed by the public body. Whenever a public body includes an executive session as an item on a posted meeting agenda, the public body shall list the agenda item as "proposed executive session" and indicate the nature of the business of the executive session.

(4)(A) Any addition to or deletion from the agenda shall be made as the first act of business at the meeting.

* * *

(k) Training.

(1) Annually, the following officers shall participate in a professional training that addresses the procedures and requirements of this subchapter:

(A) for municipalities and political subdivisions, the chair of the legislative body, town manager, and mayor; ~~and~~

(B) for the State, the chair of any public body that is not an advisory body; ~~and~~

(C) the members of a State advisory body, provided that the advisory body is composed entirely of members who are not government officers or employees.

* * *

Sec. 3. 1 V.S.A. § 313 is amended to read:

§ 313. EXECUTIVE SESSIONS

(a) No public body may hold or conclude an executive session from which the public is excluded, except by the affirmative vote of two-thirds of its members present in the case of any public body of State government or of a majority of its members present in the case of any public body of a municipality or other political subdivision. A motion to go into executive session shall indicate the nature of the business of the executive session, and no other matter may be considered in the executive session. ~~Such~~ The vote to enter executive session shall be taken in the course of an open meeting and the result of the vote recorded in the minutes. No formal or binding action shall be taken in executive session except for actions relating to the securing of real estate options under subdivision (2) of this subsection. Minutes of an executive session need not be taken, but if they are, the minutes shall, notwithstanding subsection 312(b) of this title, be exempt from public copying and inspection under the Public Records Act. A public body may not hold an executive session except to consider one or more of the following:

* * *

(10) security, cybersecurity, or emergency response measures, the disclosure of which could jeopardize public safety; or

(11) confidential business information relating to the interest rates for publicly financed loans, provided that the public body is a State public body and the creditor for the loan.

* * *

Sec. 4. LEGISLATIVE INTENT

It is the intent of the General Assembly that section 5 of this act amend 13 V.S.A. § 1026 to conform subdivision (a)(4) of that section with the constitutional requirements articulated in the Supreme Court of Vermont decision *State v. Colby*, 185 Vt. 464 (2009).

Sec. 5. 13 V.S.A. § 1026 is amended to read:

§ 1026. DISORDERLY CONDUCT

(a) A person is guilty of disorderly conduct if ~~he or she~~ the person, with intent to cause public inconvenience or annoyance, or recklessly creates a risk thereof:

* * *

(4) without lawful authority, disturbs any lawful assembly or meeting of persons; or

* * *

(c) As used in this section:

(1) “Disturbs any lawful assembly or meeting of persons” means conduct that substantially impairs the effective conduct of an assembly or meeting, including conduct that:

(A) causes an assembly or meeting to terminate prematurely; or

(B) consists of numerous and sustained efforts to disrupt an assembly or meeting after being asked to desist.

(2) “Meeting” includes a meeting of a public body, as those terms are defined in 1 V.S.A. § 310.

Sec. 6. EFFECTIVE DATE

This act shall take effect on passage.

Thereupon, the question, Shall the Senate concur in the House proposal of amendment?, was decided in the affirmative.

Message from the House No. 71

A message was received from the House of Representatives by Ms. Courtney Reckord, its Second Assistant Clerk, as follows:

Mr. President:

I am directed to inform the Senate that:

The House has considered Senate proposals of amendment to House bills of the following titles:

H. 266. An act relating to the 340B prescription drug pricing program.

H 209. An act relating to intranasal epinephrine in schools

And has severally concurred therein with further proposals of amendment

thereto, in the adoption of which the concurrence of the Senate is requested.

The House has considered Senate proposals of amendment to the following House bills:

H. 222. An act relating to civil orders of protection.

H. 482. An act relating to Green Mountain Care Board authority to adjust a hospital's reimbursement rates and to appoint a hospital observer.

And has severally concurred therein.

The House has considered Senate proposal of amendment to House bill entitled:

H. 454. An act relating to transforming Vermont's education governance, quality, and finance systems.

And has refused to concur therein and asks for a Committee of Conference upon the disagreeing votes of the two Houses;

The Speaker appointed as members of such Committee on the part of the House:

Rep. Conlon of Cornwall
Rep. Kornheiser of Brattleboro
Rep. Taylor of Milton.

Committee of Conference Appointed

H. 454.

An act relating to transforming Vermont's education governance, quality, and finance systems.

Was taken up. Pursuant to the request of the House, the President announced the appointment of

Senator Bongartz
Senator Cummings
Senator Beck

as members of the Committee of Conference on the part of the Senate to consider the disagreeing votes of the two Houses.

Rules Suspended; Bill Messaged

On motion of Senator Baruth, the rules were suspended, and the following bill was ordered messaged to the House forthwith:

H. 50.

Rules Suspended; Action Messaged

On motion of Senator Baruth, the rules were suspended, and the action on the following bills was ordered messaged to the House forthwith:

H. 91, S. 59.

Adjournment

On motion of Senator Baruth, the Senate adjourned until ten o'clock in the forenoon on Wednesday, May 28, 2025.